RECEIVED
MAR 23 2017
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002063

South Carolina Department of
Consumer Affairs,

Appellant,

v.

A Bargain Center, LLC,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kelly H. Rainsford (S.C. Bar No. 15907)
James C. Copeland (S.C. Bar No. 100054)
Christine E. Thompson (S.C. Bar No. 101001)
Post Office Box 5757
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 734-4200
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN FAILING TO ORDER RESTITUTION WHEN SOUTH CAROLINA CASE LAW DICTATES THAT THE CONTRACTS OF AN UNLICENSED ENTITY ARE VOID AND UNENFORCEABLE AND STATE LAW REQUIRES EXCESS CHARGES TO BE REFUNDED UPON WRITTEN DEMAND?
- II. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN FAILING TO ORDER RESTITUTION WHEN THE FEDERAL TRUTH IN LENDING ACT DICTATES THAT AGENCIES SHALL REQUIRE AN ADJUSTMENT OF FINANCE CHARGES WHEN FINDING VIOLATIONS THEREOF?
- III. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN FAILING TO CONSIDER THE MULTITUDE AND EGREGIOUSNESS OF RESPONDENT'S PAWNBROKERS ACT VIOLATIONS, THE GOAL OF DETERRENCE IN ISSUING A FINE, AND THE DEPARTMENT'S EXPERTISE WHEN THE COURT CONCLUDED A NEGLIGIBLE ADMINISTRATIVE FINE WAS WARRANTED IN THIS CASE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 7, 2015, the South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs ("Department") issued a letter to A Bargain Center, LLC ("Respondent") notifying Respondent of alleged violations of the South Carolina Pawnbrokers Act ("Pawnbrokers Act"), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 40-39-10 to -160 (2011), and offering to resolve the matter if Respondent would cease and desist pawnbroker activity and pay a fine in the amount of \$10,500.00. (R. pp. 321-323). On October 21, 2015, Respondent's attorney sent a letter to the Department indicating Respondent would cease and desist pawnbroker activity but would not pay a fine. (R. pp. 327-328). The Department responded in a letter dated November 30, 2015, stating Respondent would be required to pay a fine based on the number and severity of the violations. (R. pp. 324-326). Respondent's attorney reiterated in a letter dated December 22, 2015, that Respondent would not pay any fine to the Department. (R. p. 329).

On February 5, 2016, the Department filed a request for contested case hearing at the Administrative Law Court, where the case was assigned to the Honorable Shirley Robinson.¹ (R. pp. 11-22). The Department requested that the court order Respondent to cease and desist from engaging in pawnbroker activity, deliver business records for inspection, pay an administrative fine, and issue restitution for the affected consumers. (R. pp. 11-22). The court held a hearing on May 17, 2016, and issued a Final Decision and Order on July 21, 2016. In the Order, the court found Respondent operated as a pawnbroker without first obtaining a Certificate of Authority from the Department, violating the Pawnbrokers Act. (R. pp. 1-6). The court imposed a fine in the amount of \$2,500.00 but concluded that restitution was not appropriate given the facts in this case. (R. pp. 1-6).

On August 1, 2016, the Department filed a motion requesting the court reconsider, alter, or amend its Final Decision and Order. (R. pp. 30-34). The Department requested the court issue an order requiring Respondent to: (1) refund all interest collected from customers as well as items forfeited by customers, or their monetary value if Respondent no longer possessed them; and (2) pay a fine of at least \$10,500.00 based on the large number of violations, Respondent's continued illegal activity after being warned by the Department, and Respondent knowingly accepting interest payments in violation of state and federal law. (R. pp. 30-34). On August 8, 2016, Respondent's attorney provided the court with a response in opposition to the Department's motion for reconsideration.² (R. p. 330).

¹ The law in effect at the time required the Administrator of the Department to file a request for contested case hearing at the Administrative Law Court rather than issue an Administrative Order. S.C. Code Ann. § 40-39-150(A) (2011).

² The Department was neither copied on nor served with this response and was unaware of its existence until the court issued its Order on the Department's Motion for Reconsideration.

On September 1, 2016, the court issued and the Department received an Order on the Department's Motion for Reconsideration modifying one of its findings regarding fees imposed by Respondent. (R. pp. 7-10). The court, however, denied the remainder of the arguments contained in the Department's motion and declined to adjust the fine amount or order restitution. (R. pp. 7-10). The Department timely served and filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court on October 3, 2016.

FACTS

The Department is responsible for administering and enforcing the South Carolina Pawnbrokers Act ("Pawnbrokers Act"), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 40-39-10 to -160 (2011). S.C. Code Ann. § 40-39-20 (2011). Respondent conducts business at 225 S. Monmouth Avenue, Swansea, S.C. 29160. (R. p. 77, lines 1-4). Respondent is not currently and has never been licensed by the Department to operate as a pawnbroker. (R. p. 76, lines 13-18).

In August 2015, the Lexington County Sheriff's Office provided the Department with evidence indicating Respondent may be in violation of the Pawnbrokers Act. (R. p. 316; p. 182, line 15-p. 183, line 14). On September 10, 2015, the Department, the Lexington County Sheriff's Office, and the Federal Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives conducted an onsite investigation of Respondent. (R. p. 316). During the onsite visit, the Department's investigators located an area that was segregated from the retail store and accessible only from behind the counter. (R. p. 248, line 7-p. 249, line 6; pp. 317-320). Deputy Chief Investigator Joni Green testified that the segregated area is very similar to a holding area she would see in a pawnshop. (R. p. 250, line 24-p. 251, line 4). In addition, Investigator Green testified that the organization of the segregated area, including the numbered shelves, resembled what she sees in pawnshops.

(R. p. 251, lines 5-13; pp. 317-320). Investigator Green testified that in her experience as an investigator of pawnshops, Respondent's store had a similar layout to that of a pawnshop. (R. p. 251, lines 14-17; pp. 317-220).

During the onsite visit, the Department identified twenty (20) transactions³ in which Respondent purchased tangible personal property on condition that it may be redeemed or repurchased by the seller for a fixed price within a fixed period of time:

R. p.	Name	Transaction Date	Item	Price Paid	"Buy Back" Amount	Buy Back On or Before
307	Edmonds	7/16/2015	40 inch Flat Screen T.V.	75.00	112.50	7/31/2015
309	Addy	7/21/2015	Frigidaire A/C Window Unit	30.00	45.00	8/6/2015
308	Addy	7/29/2015	AC Gold	25.00	45.00	8/15/2015
311	Korzen	8/4/2015	Air Compressor	25.00	37.50	8/17/2015
306	Wanamaker	8/11/2015	2 S.S. rings & 1 10KT ring	20.00	30.00	8/26/2015
293	Archer	8/11/2015	Camcorder, DVD Player	45.00	67.50	8/26/2015
294	Hollomark	8/12/2015	<i>Missing</i>	40.00	60.00	8/26/2015
295	Davis	8/13/2015	14 KT Charm	70.00	105.00	8/30/2015
296	Hart	8/15/2015	Shop Vac	20.00	30.00	8/30/2015
297	Clark	8/17/2015	Level	20.00	30.00	9/1/2015
312	Korzen	8/18/2015	Olevia 32 inch T.V.	40.00	60.00	9/2/2015
298	Crum	8/21/2015	10 KT Ring	50.00	75.00	9/5/2015
299	Hart	8/22/2015	Weedeater	25.00	37.50	9/6/2015
300	Jones	8/24/2015	2- 5000 BTU Haier A/C	60.00	90.00	9/7/2015
301	Johnson	8/25/2015	2 Fishing Poles, Tackle	35.00	52.50	9/8/2015
302	Worley	8/26/2015	Laptop	<i>Illegible</i>	125.00	<i>Illegible</i>
303	Douglas	8/27/2015	Commercial Leaf Blower	40.00	60.00	9/12/2015

³ In the Investigative Summary, Chief Investigator Middlebrooks referenced twenty-one (21) transactions. (R. p. 316). It was subsequently determined that one (1) of these transactions was a duplicate. Later, when investigators obtained an additional "buy back" agreement dated April 21, 2015, the total number of "buy back" transactions increased to twenty-one (21).

R. p.	Name	Transaction Date	Item	Price Paid	"Buy Back" Amount	Buy Back On or Before
304	Craft	8/28/2015	Kobalt 16pc Socket Set	15.00	22.50	9/12/2015
305	Hart	8/29/2015	Sears Battery Charger	25.00	37.50	9/14/2015
314	Korzen	9/8/2015	Olevia T.V.	40.00	60.00	9/29/2015

(R. pp. 293-314). For each of the twenty (20) transactions, the investigators found a document issued by Respondent outlining the details of the transaction. (R. pp. 293-314). Respondent referred to these transactions as "buy back" transactions or "layaways." (R. p. 315; p. 67, lines 2-12; p. 81, lines 4-17). During the Department's onsite visit, Respondent's employee provided a voluntary statement explaining that "buy back" transactions mean Respondent buys an item for a certain amount (e.g., \$10.00 on the 1st of the month) and agrees to let the customer buy it back by a certain date for a higher amount (e.g., \$15.00 on the 15th of the month). (R. p. 315). The employee also explained that the customer has the option to pay interest to extend the deadline to buy the property back for fifteen (15) more days. (R. p. 315). The employee also stated that Respondent conducts between 100 and 150 "buy back" transactions each year. (R. p. 315). At the hearing, Respondent's employee modified her statement to say Respondent conducts between 50 and 100 "buy back" transactions each year. (R. p. 96, line 3-p. 97, line 15).

Respondent's owner also explained the "buy back" transactions during his testimony at the hearing. According to the owner, when he purchases an item, he sets the "buy back" price by adding "30, 40 to 50 percent." (R. p. 67, line 22). The owner further testified that he determines the deadline for the "buy back" by giving the customer fifteen (15) or twenty (20) days, depending on the customer. (R. p. 68, line 8). If the customer could not pay the "buy back" amount by the deadline, he would give the customer more time but "[t]hey have to pay the markup on it." (R. p. 68, line 22-p. 69, line 6).

During the onsite visit on September 10, 2015, the Department’s investigators informed both Respondent’s owner and employee that violations were identified and advised Respondent to cease and desist from pawnbroker activity. (R. p. 316; p. 217, lines 8-18). The investigators also informed Respondent that a violations letter would be forthcoming. (R. p. 316).

During the course of the investigation, the Department noticed three (3) of the twenty (20) transactions identified on September 10, 2015, belonged to Michael Korzen. (R. p. 310-314). In preparation for the hearing, the Department’s investigators met with Michael Korzen on April 5, 2016. (R. p. 113, line 22). During that meeting, Mr. Korzen provided a written statement as well as additional documents not previously provided by Respondent, including a “buy back” agreement from April 2015 and a Layaway Agreement from October 2015. (R. p. 113, line 22; pp. 310-314). In total, the record includes five (5) agreements for transactions between Respondent and Mr. Korzen:

R. p.	Name	Transaction Date	Item	Price Paid	“Buy Back” Amount	Buy Back On or Before
310	Korzen	4/21/2015	Chicago Electric Welding Machine	25.00	37.50	5/8/2015
311	Korzen	8/4/2015	Air Compressor	25.00	37.50	8/17/2015
312	Korzen	8/18/2015	Olevia 32 inch T.V.	40.00	60.00	9/2/2015
314	Korzen	9/8/2015	Olevia T.V.	40.00	60.00	9/29/2015
313	Korzen	10/2/2015	Olevia T.V.	<i>Layaway Agreement</i>		

(R. pp. 310-314; p. 119, line 14–p. 125, line 14).

At the hearing, Mr. Korzen testified he first sold an item to Respondent because he needed money for gas to get to his jobs. (R. p. 116, line 24-p. 117, line 2). Mr. Korzen testified he knew that at a pawnshop a person would have thirty (30) days to make a payment and would have ninety (90) days before the person lost the item. (R. p. 136, line 10-p. 137, line 15). Mr. Korzen also testified it was more expensive to sell items to Respondent than at a pawnshop. (R. p. 137, line 16

-p. 138, line 25). Despite the differences between Respondent and a licensed pawnshop operating in compliance with the law, Mr. Korzen testified he was forced to go to Respondent because he did not have transportation to travel to a licensed pawnshop. (R. p. 139, lines 1-7).

Mr. Korzen testified at the hearing about the transactions he entered into with Respondent. (R. p. 112, line 7-p. 140, line 10). Mr. Korzen testified that he used his Chicago Electric Welding Machine to get \$25.00 from Respondent in April 2015. (R. p. 120, lines 5-13). He testified that he made three (3) or four (4) payments to extend the deadline for buying back the welder. (R. p. 121, lines 6-7). The agreement in the record shows at least three (3) payments of \$12.50 to extend the deadline for buying back the welder. (R. pp. 310-314). Ultimately, however, Mr. Korzen lost the welder because he did not have the money to pay the full "buy back" amount of \$37.50. (R. p. 121, lines 15-24). Thus, Mr. Korzen received \$25.00 in exchange for the welder, paid three (3) payments of \$12.50 to extend the deadline to buy it back, and ultimately lost the welder because he did not have the funds to pay \$37.50 all at once.

Mr. Korzen next testified that he used his air compressor to get \$25.00 from Respondent in August 2015. (R. p. 121, line 25-p. 122, line 12). His testimony and the agreement in the record indicate Mr. Korzen paid at least two (2) payments of \$12.50 to extend the deadline for buying back the air compressor. (R. p. 122, lines 13-15; pp. 310-314). Ultimately, however, Mr. Korzen lost the air compressor because he did not have the money to pay the full "buy back" amount of \$37.50. (R. p. 122, line 24-p. 123, line 7). Thus, Mr. Korzen received \$25.00 in exchange for the air compressor, paid two (2) payments of \$12.50 to extend the deadline to buy it back, and ultimately lost the air compressor because he did not have the funds to pay \$37.50 all at once.

While Mr. Korzen was paying Respondent to extend the deadline to retrieve his air compressor, he pawned his 32-inch television to get \$40.00 from Respondent. (R. pp. 310-314).

Fortunately, Mr. Korzen was able to retrieve the television from Respondent by paying \$60.00 without extending the deadline beyond September 2. (R. p. 124, lines 8-10). However, he used the same television to get \$40.00 from Respondent on September 8, 2015. (R. pp. 310-314). According to the agreement, the deadline for buying back the television was September 29, 2015. Respondent's employee testified that Mr. Korzen lost his television.⁴ (R. p. 262, line 25). Because of the Department's instructions to Respondent during the September 10 visit, Mr. Korzen was able to retrieve his television by paying the original loan amount of \$40.00. (R. p. 313; p. 262, line 3-p. 263, line 12).

⁴ It is not clear how Mr. Korzen could have "lost" his television under the September 8 agreement when the Department instructed Respondent on September 10 that such agreements were in violation of the Pawnbrokers Act and, therefore, all items must be returned to the customers for the amount borrowed.

ARGUMENTS

- I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ORDER RESTITUTION BECAUSE SOUTH CAROLINA CASE LAW DICTATES THAT THE CONTRACTS OF AN UNLICENSED ENTITY ARE VOID AND UNENFORCEABLE AND STATE LAW REQUIRES EXCESS CHARGES TO BE REFUNDED UPON WRITTEN DEMAND.

Pursuant to the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”), an appellate court may reverse or modify the decision of the Administrative Law Court if the finding, conclusion, or decision reached is erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record or is affected by an error of law. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2015); S.C. Coastal Conservation League v. S. C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control, 380 S.C. 349, 361, 669 S.E.2d 899, 905 (Ct. App. 2008), rev’d on other grounds, 390 S.C. 418, 702 S.E.2d 246 (2010). “‘Substantial evidence’ is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but it is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached or must have reached in order to justify its action.” Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 135, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981).

- A. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ORDER RESTITUTION BECAUSE SOUTH CAROLINA CASE LAW DICTATES THAT THE CONTRACTS OF AN UNLICENSED ENTITY ARE VOID AND UNENFORCEABLE.

The Administrative Law Court erred in failing to order restitution when the court correctly held that Respondent violated the South Carolina Pawnbrokers Act (“Pawnbrokers Act”), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 40-39-10 to -160 (2011), by operating as a pawnbroker without first obtaining a Certificate of Authority from the Department. (R. p. 5). The court should have held that because Respondent operated as a pawnbroker without a license, Respondent’s “buy back” agreements

were void and unenforceable and ordered Respondent to return all interest collected as well as all property forfeited or the monetary value if Respondent no longer possessed the property.

South Carolina case law dictates the contracts of an unlicensed entity are void and unenforceable. W & N Constr. Co. v. Williams, 322 S.C. 448, 450, 472 S.E.2d 622, 623 (1996); see Berkebile v. Outen, 311 S.C. 50, 53 & n. 2, 426 S.E.2d 760, 762 & n. 2 (1993) (stating “an illegal contract has always been unenforceable” and “courts will not enforce a contract which is violative of public policy, statutory law, or provisions of the Constitution.”); Jackson v. Bi-Lo Stores, 313 S.C. 272, 277, 437 S.E.2d 168, 170 (Ct. App. 1993) (holding contract secured by illegal conduct cannot be enforced). The Pawnbrokers Act governs the pawnbroker industry and provides that all pawnbrokers conducting business in South Carolina are under the authority of and regulated by the Department. S.C. Code Ann. § 40-39-20 (2011). No person may carry on the business of a pawnbroker in any location in this State without first having obtained a Certificate of Authority for each location from the Department. S.C. Code Ann. § 40-39-20 (2011); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 28-200(B)(1) (2011). A pawnbroker is “any person engaged in the business of lending money on the security of pledged goods, or engaged in the business of purchasing tangible personal property on condition that it may be redeemed or repurchased by the seller for a fixed price within a fixed period of time.” S.C. Code Ann. § 40-39-10(2) (2011).

In order to be licensed as a pawnbroker, a person must file an application with the Department and pay an application fee of \$275.00. S.C. Code Ann. § 40-39-120 (2011); S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 28-200(B)(2) (2011). The person must maintain a \$5,000.00 bond in the Department’s favor, or other evidence of financial responsibility, including but not limited to, letters of credit or certificates of deposit. S.C. Code Ann. § 40-39-50 (2011). Further, each applicant must “file proof of his net worth which must be a minimum of . . . [\$35,000.00] until that time as liability insurance

covering the contents of the pawn location is secured by the pawnbroker.” Id.; S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 28-200(B)(3) (2011). In addition, the pawnbroker must submit to a criminal background check by the law enforcement agency having jurisdiction where the applicant intends to do business. S.C. Code Ann. § 40-39-20 (2011). A person convicted of a felony after July 1, 1988, may not be issued a Certificate of Authority to carry on the business of a pawnbroker or in any manner engage in the business of a pawnbroker. Id.

The court correctly held that Respondent operated as a pawnbroker without obtaining a Certificate of Authority from the Department. (R. p. 288, lines 6-13; p. 5). It was undisputed that Respondent has never had a Certificate of Authority to operate as a pawnbroker in South Carolina. In fact, Respondent’s owner testified that he never obtained a Certificate of Authority from the Department to operate a pawnshop because he did not want a pawnshop. (R. p. 76, lines 13-18). Respondent’s owner even told the Department’s Deputy Chief Investigator Joni Green that he is not interested in becoming a licensed pawnbroker because the maximum interest rate a pawnbroker can charge does not seem high enough to be worth his time. (R. p. 255, lines 5-15).

All of the evidence in the record supported the court’s finding that Respondent was clearly engaged in the business of a pawnbroker because Respondent was agreeing to purchase “tangible personal property on condition that it may be redeemed or repurchased by the seller for a fixed price within a fixed period of time.” S.C. Code Ann. § 40-39-10(2) (2011). (R. pp. 293-314). Respondent conducted the purported thrift store in an identical manner as a pawnshop. (R. p. 5). Respondent took personal belongings from a borrower in exchange for a loan, provided a time period by which the borrower could regain possession of their property for a specific price, segregated items from the general store inventory, and marked items accordingly. (R. pp. 1-6; p. 315; p. 95, lines 19-24; p. 188, line 1; p. 248, line 7-p. 251, line 17; pp. 293-314; pp. 317-320).

The confirmed 21 transactions presented by the Department at trial coupled with the between 50 and 150 “buy back” transactions testified to by Respondent’s employee demonstrate a clear and consistent pattern of Respondent operating as a pawnbroker without a license. (R. pp. 293-314; p. 315; p. 96, line 3-p. 97, line 15). Although Respondent attempted to disguise the business activity’s true character in holding the transactions out to the public as a “buy back” or “layaway,” the court correctly found Respondent’s labelling of the transactions as “buy backs” or “layaways” to be “unpersuasive” in ruling Respondent’s activities “fall squarely within the definition of ‘pawnbroker.’” (R. p. 5). Thus, Respondent entered into pawn transactions without a Certificate of Authority to operate as a pawnbroker.

Based on the court’s findings and South Carolina case law, each “buy back” agreement created between Respondent and the customer is void and unenforceable because Respondent was not licensed to conduct pawn transactions in this State. Failure to deem the contract unenforceable creates the absurd result of the court essentially upholding a contract that is violative of public policy and statutory law. See Berkebile, 311 S.C. at 53, 426 S.E.2d at 762 (courts will not enforce a contract which is violative of public policy, statutory law, or provisions of the constitution); TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue, 331 S.C. 611, 620, 503 S.E.2d 471, 476 (1998) (holding that a statutory provision shall not be ignored and the Court shall interpret the statute so as to avoid an absurd result as “the Court must presume the Legislature did not intend a futile act, but rather intended its statutes to accomplish something.”); see also Grant v. Butt, 198 S.C. 298, 17 S.E.2d 689 (1941); Rountree v. Ingle, 94 S.C. 231, 234, 77 S.E. 931, 932 (1913). It follows that for the twenty-one (21) agreements in the record as well as the additional transactions testified to during the hearing, Respondent should be ordered to return all interest collected and property acquired as a result of these void and unenforceable agreements.

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