THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-002063

RECEIVED

APR 03 2017

SC Court of Appeals

South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs..... Appellant,

v.

A Bargain Center, LLC Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

S. Jahue Moore
MOORE, TAYLOR & THOMAS, P.A.
Post Office Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
(803) 796-9160
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-002063

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO ORDER RESTITUTION.

The ALC has judicial discretion and a decision should be upheld if it is supported by substantial evidence in the record. Risher v. South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, 393 S.C. 198, 203, 712 S.E.2d 428, 431 (2011). The Court of Appeals may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the Appellant have been prejudiced and the finding is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the record. *Id.* That is not the case here. Respondent concedes to the decision that Respondent was in violation of the Pawnbrokers Act. It was a technical and unintentional violation of the statute. Appellant's argument is de minimis because the ALC acted within judicial discretion in its correct order.

A. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO ORDER RESTITUTION WHEN LOOKING TO SOUTH CAROLINA CASE LAW REGARDING THE CONTRACTS OF AN UNLICENSED ENTITY.

The ALC acknowledged Respondent was in violation of the Pawnbrokers Act by operating as a pawnbroker without first obtaining a Certificate of Authority from the Department of

Consumer Affairs. (R. p. 5). The Appellant fails to cite case law requiring the ALC to order restitution as a result of void and unenforceable contracts. The Appellant acknowledges that the ALC correctly found the Respondent operated as a pawnbroker without a Certificate of Authority. Respondent recognizes a technical infraction of the Pawnbrokers Act was committed, and has complied with the order by the ALC to cease and desist operating as a pawnbroker. Failing to deem the contracts unenforceable was not an error by the ALC, whose issue at the contested hearing was the violation of the Pawnbrokers Act. The issue was ruled on and found in favor of the Appellant.

Whether restitution should be required is a question to be decided on the facts of each case. Niggel Associates, Inc. v. Polo's of North Myrtle Beach, Inc., 296 S.C. 530, 531, 374 S.E.2d 507, 509 (S.C.App. 1988). In order to recover restitution in a contract, a plaintiff must show: (1) he conferred a non-gratuitous benefit of the defendant; (2) the defendant realized some value from the benefit; and (3) it would be inequitable for the defendant to retain the benefit without paying the plaintiff its value. *Id.* (citing Ellis v. Smith Grading and Paving, Inc., 294 S.C. 470, 366 S.E.2d 12 (Ct.App. 1988)). The ALC properly looked to the facts of the case in determining that restitution was not appropriate. The Respondent owns a thrift store, where the value of the goods it sells do not add up to the fines requested by the Appellant. Furthermore, the Appellant does not present any evidence of Respondent's customers who are unhappy with their experience at the store. Appellant requests restitution for 21 transactions presented at trial as well as 50-150 transactions that are not supported by any evidence. This request is not to benefit those who were in contract with the Respondent, but proof of Appellant's goal to harm the Respondent with excess fines. To require restitution for some transactions that are not even in evidence is unduly burdensome, if not impossible.

Appellant puts great weight to the testimony of Michael Korzen to say Respondent was unjustly enriched by transactions that violated the Pawnbrokers Act. Mr. Korzen acknowledged he understood the transaction occurring the Respondent's stores, he was satisfied with his transaction and did not feel he was cheated. (R. p. 133, line 17-25). There needs to be some proof that he was unjustly enriched; proof beyond the testimony of one satisfied customer whose transactions might have been slightly different had he gone to a licensed pawn shop. Had Mr. Korzen been unsatisfied he may have been more willing to testify at the contested hearing, instead he was nervous and testified that from his conversations with representatives of the Appellant he was concerned he may go to jail. (R. p. 127-29, lines 25-3). Mr. Korzen did not act as a customer who was looking for restitution since it appears he was unwilling to testify from the beginning. Any restitution is not for the benefit of customers like Mr. Korzen, but for Appellant's goal of punishing Respondent. The ALC correctly denied Appellant's request for restitution in light of relevant case law and the evidence presented at trial.

B. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO ORDER RESTITUTION WHEN LOOKING TO THE FEDERAL TRUTH IN LENDING ACT.

Appellant further argues restitution is necessary based on the Federal Truth in Lending Act ("TILA"). TILA has the purpose of promoting informed use of credit to result in justice and fairness to both the lender and the borrower. General Motors Acceptance Corp. v. McMinn, 285 S.C. 67, 68, 328 S.E.2d 472, 477 (1985). Because the Pawnbrokers Act should be in compliance with TILA it is redundant and unnecessary for the court to echo this violation, and does not affect the ALC's discretion in ordering against restitution. Respondent's records of his transactions were not compliant with the TILA because he was not aware of its existence, nor of the existence of the Pawnbrokers Act. It was not persuasive to the ALC during trial, nor is it persuasive in Appellant's

brief, that the violation of an act included in the Pawnbrokers Act should change the outcome of the case.

The argument that Respondent was grossly negligent having a willing intent to mislead is customers is an offensive allegation that questions the ALC's ability to judge the character of witnesses. As the ALC correctly explained, the weight and credibility assigned to evidence presented at the hearing of a matter is within the province of the trier of fact. S.C. Cable Television Ass'n v. S. Bell Tel. & Tel. Co., 308 S.C. 216, 222, 417 S.E.2d 586, 589 (1992). Furthermore, a trial judge who observes a witness is in the best position to judge the witness' demeanor and veracity and to evaluate the credibility of his testimony. Woodall v. Woodall, 322 S.C. 7, 10, 471 S.E.2d 154, 157 (1996); Wallace v. Milliken & Co., 300 S.C. 553, 556, 389 S.E.2d 448, 450 (Ct. App. 1990). The ALC found Mr. Cassidy and Ms. Burdo testified they were not aware their actions violated the Act, and stopped accepting property in the improper manner immediately after being contacted by the Appellant. (R. p. 6). The ALC judge, who was in the best position to give credibility to witness testimony, did not find the Respondent to be grossly negligent or find he intended to mislead his customers, as the Appellant suggests. Respondent's violation was unintentional and he did what he described as a "buy back" or "layaway" transaction to help those in his community who needed money. Mr. Korzen's testimony proved that the customers were satisfied and did not feel they were being taken advantage of. (R. p. 133, line 17-25). If that was not the case, the Appellant, who had the burden of proof at trial, should have been able to find a disgruntled customer. They did not do so. Furthermore, if Mr. Cassidy was intentionally running an illegal pawnshop he would not have given Detective Kevin Blake paperwork reflecting his act during the course of investigating a burglary. (R. p. 151-53, lines 12-6). He was not attempting to hide his actions, because he did not know he was doing anything wrong. Mr. Cassidy truthfully

testified he did not know his transactions would be considered loans or pawn activity, and ceased all such activity immediately upon notification by the Appellant. (R. p. 88-9, lines 4-5).

Appellant cites 15 U.S.C § 1607(e)(2), the Consumer Credit Protection Act, as requiring, as a matter of state and federal law, Respondent must be ordered to pay restitution to all affected customers. This statute mandates each agency shall require, in cases where an annual percentage rate or finance charge was inaccurately disclosed, an adjustment when it determines that such disclosure resulted from: (a) a clear and consistent pattern or practice of violations; (b) gross negligence; or (c) a willful violation which was intended to mislead the person to whom the credit was extended. The statute further explains that an agency need not require such an adjustment if it determines such disclosure error resulted from any other unique circumstance involving clearly technical or non-substantive disclosure violations that do not adversely affect information provided to the customer and have not misled or otherwise deceived the customer. Furthermore, the statute does not define adjustment as a complete restitution for all transactions.

There is not a clear and consistent pattern or practice of violations of the Act. The Appellant's investigators were only able to confirm nineteen instances where Respondent either loaned money secured by pledged goods or purchased tangible personal property from customers on the condition that the property could be redeemed for a fixed price within a specific timeframe. (R. p. 5). When the investigators were only able to prove these few transactions, Appellant goes further to request restitution for 50 – 150 transactions with no evidence to support the number or no evidence to support the existence of records that would show who the customers are, what they sold to Respondent, and the price.

The ALC judge's decision to not order restitution does not support Appellant's argument that the judge ignored legislative intent, ignored statutory language, and disregarded the case law.

The ALC properly found that Respondent unintentionally violated the Pawnbrokers Act and found Appellant's arguments regarding restitution to be unfounded in both the Final Decision and Order and the Order on Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration. (R. p. 6; R. p. 8). ALC had the judicial discretion to order a fine and not restitution, and this Court should not overturn the decision of a lower court that was in the best position to judge the credibility of the witnesses and analyze the evidence.

II. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO ISSUE A FINE RECOMMENDED BY THE SC DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS.

The SC Department of Consumer Affairs requested the Administrative Law Court order a fine that would bankrupt a thrift store selling used goods where the inventory is worth no more than \$8,000 - \$12,000. The ALC found Mr. Cassidy's testimony to be unrefuted and noted how the Department's Investigators found him to be cooperative, immediately ending any unlawful activity. While the Department asserts the Respondent continued unlawful activity after notice, there is no evidence to support this, which the ALC acknowledged in the Order on Petition's Motion for Reconsideration. The ALC found Mr. Cassidy to be truthful and recognized he did not intentionally violate the Pawnbrokers Act.

The Appellant requested a contested hearing and tried a case with no legitimate attempt to compromise. Their ultimate goal to stop the Respondent from acting as an unlicensed pawnbroker was successful as it ended immediately following notification by the Department. The Respondent unintentionally violated the Pawnbrokers Act and has not violated the act since notified of its existence. Instead of being satisfied with a cease and desist by the Court and a fine that does enough to promote deterrence to a small thrift store, the Appellant hopes a fine will be levied against the Respondent that will bankrupt his store and directly impact his livelihood.

The Appellant initially requested a fine of \$75,750 at the contested hearing and now requests a fine of \$10,500, along with a refund of all interest collected from customers and a return or refund in a monetary value of all property within the pawn transactions. One of these requests would bankrupt the Respondent, while both are sure to have a drastic effect on his livelihood. The Appellant further requests records where most do not exist and while they had the burden of proof at trial, they did not put forth the evidence necessary for their desired result.

A fine of the magnitude requested at the contested hearing, and the fine requested in the Appellant's brief, would be a violation of Respondent's due process rights. The fine is viewed as punitive damages. Any penalty imposed should take into account the reprehensibility of the conduct, the harm caused, the awareness of the conduct's wrongfulness, the duration of the conduct, and any concealment. Welch v. Epstein, 342 S.C. 279, 308, 536 S.E.2d 408, 423 (2000). Essentially, the punishment should fit the offense. Here, the Respondent conducted a technical infraction of the Pawnbrokers Act, the harm was minimal as Mr. Cassidy believed he was helping people in his town, he was not aware he was violating the law, he stopped immediately upon notification, and he did not conceal any of his actions.

Furthermore, economic bankruptcy, while not an absolute bar, is a fact in considering punitive damages. *Id.* The fine requested at trial and in appeal would cause Respondent's small thrift store to file bankruptcy and close. This would have a direct impact on Respondent's livelihood and those in the Swansea area who depend on the store to purchase used goods at a reasonable price. It is difficult to understand why the Appellant would want to harm the Respondent when he was fined by the Court and has stopped any actions in violation of the Pawnbrokers Act.

The ALC did understand the goal of deterrence in issuing a fine and acknowledged the number of Pawnbrokers Act violations. When the fine was issued the Court took into account Mr. Cassidy's unrefuted testimony that the entire store's inventory was worth no more than \$8,000 - \$12,000, so the \$75,500 in fines plus restitution requested at trial and the \$10,500 in fines plus restitution requested on appeal would do more than deter; it would bankrupt Respondent's business. (R. p. 9). The Court considered the quantity and severity of the violations alleged by the department, and found Appellant's argument to be unpersuasive. *Id.* In recognizing that the Appellant, through a motion for reconsideration, requested a monetary penalty that would admonish Respondent for its actions and deter others from behaving similarly, it is clear the ALC believed the ordered fine produced the desired effect, even though it was not to the severe level the Appellant desired. (R. p. 8).